STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

**ORIGINAL**

Appeal from Horry County

Honorable Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TERRELL FREEMAN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2018-000851

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

**RECEIVED**  
FEB 06 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

TAYLOR D GILLIAM  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Whether the trial court erred in refusing to instruct the jury that flight alone cannot be substantial circumstantial evidence and therefore would constitute insufficient circumstantial evidence to convict Appellant?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted for murder, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, kidnapping, and grand larceny valued at between \$2,000 and \$10,000 by an Horry County grand jury in May 2017. Tr. 14, ll. 3 – 10; R. \_\_ (Indictment). He proceeded to trial on April 23, 2018 before the Honorable Steven H. John and a jury. Tr. 1. George DeBusk, Jr. and Seth Oskin appeared on behalf of the State, and Martin Spratlin represented Appellant. G. Scott Bellamy represented co-defendant Nicholas McIver. The trial court granted Appellant's motion for a directed verdict as to the kidnapping charge. Tr. 542, ll. 16 – 20. The jury found Appellant not guilty on the murder and possession of a weapon charges. Tr. 650, l. 23 – Tr. 651, l. 8. However, he was found guilty on the grand larceny charge. Tr. 651, ll. 9 – 14. Judge John sentenced Appellant to five years' incarceration on this charge. Tr. 663, l. 21 – Tr. 664, l. 4.

This brief follows.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The refusal to grant a requested jury charge that states a sound principle of law applicable to the case at hand is an error of law.” State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 570, 647 S.E.2d 144, 167 (2007).

“In criminal cases an appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). “An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court abused its discretion.” Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” Id.

## ARGUMENT

**The trial court erred in refusing to instruct the jury that flight alone cannot be substantial circumstantial evidence and therefore would constitute insufficient circumstantial evidence to convict Appellant.**

### *Relevant facts*

On July 9, 2016, Kenneth Thompson arrived at the K&W Cafeteria in North Myrtle Beach to eat lunch. Tr. 86, l. 8 – Tr. 87, l. 9. Around 11:00 in the morning, the time when K&W opened, he parked under a tree to provide shade for his car. Id. As he got out of his car, he heard “a popping sound.” Tr. 89, l. 1 – Tr. 91, l. 10. He “saw a man pulling a lady out of the car by her arms” and one man pushing her out of the car in the K&W Cafeteria parking lot. Id. Thompson ran behind the K&W Cafeteria and noticed the white car was gone when he turned back. Id. He could not identify either individual involved. Tr. 92, ll. 1 – 12.

Thompson testified at trial that he never heard any sort of argument or fight; nobody was in distress prior to hearing the popping sound. Tr. 101, ll. 2 – 8. Reggie Benton, the general manager of K&W Cafeteria, saw the decedent in the parking lot. Tr. 107, ll. 19 – 21.

Aaron Jones, an officer with the City of Myrtle Beach, responded to the restaurant. Tr. 115, l. 4 – Tr. 116, l. 7. Another officer, Caroline Rose, was able to identify the decedent as Amanda Fisher after locating her cell phone. Tr. 127, l. 6 – Tr. 128, l. 8.

The decedent’s credit card was later used by Appellant’s co-defendant, Nicholas McIver, at two convenience stores, one in Marshville, North Carolina and one in Bennettsville, South Carolina. Tr. 210, l. 21. – Tr. 221, l. 8; Tr. 223, l. 1 – Tr. 232, l. 2; Tr. 468, ll. 11 – 22. Appellant was never seen in the store or using the decedent’s credit card. Id. Owen Lynam, a

detective with the City of North Myrtle Beach Department of Public Safety, testified that there was “no evidence that [Appellant] used or took anything of [the decedent’s].” Tr. 468, ll. 18 – 22. He agreed that there was no evidence that Appellant gained anything from the unfortunate death of the decedent. Tr. 469, ll. 1 – 3.

The white car observed by Thompson was later located in Charlotte, North Carolina. Tr. 290, l. 5 – Tr. 305, l. 298, l. 5. The car had been burned at a residential location not far from McIver’s girlfriend’s house. Id. Appellant was never developed as a suspect for the burning of the car. Tr. 304, l. 22 – Tr. 305, l. 12; Tr. 314, l. 21 – Tr. 315, l. 8; Tr. 334, ll. 5 – 8. No witnesses placed Appellant at the site where the car had burned. Id.

Dr. Edward Proctor, Jr. was qualified as an expert in the field of forensic pathology at trial and opined as to the cause of death. Tr. 237, l. 11 – Tr. 245, l. 25. He indicated that she “suffered a gunshot wound to the head with an entrance in the right head above the ear.” Id. Dr. Proctor indicated this was a fatal wound. Tr. 241, ll. 8 – 10. He testified that the cause of death was “traumatic injury from the gunshot wound to the head.” Id.

Counsel for Appellant requested a jury charge that “flight alone is not substantial circumstantial evidence,” relying on State v. Lewis, 403 S.C. 345, 743 S.E.2d 124 (2013). Tr. 565, ll. 21 – 25. The trial court declined to give the charge, and the State remarked on this matter in its closing. Tr. 566, ll. 1 – 10; Tr. 584 ll. 8 – 13. Following closing arguments, Appellant renewed his objection as to the failure of the trial court to charge that flight is not substantial circumstantial evidence. Tr. 643, l. 19 – Tr. 644, l. 3.

## *Discussion*

Generally, the trial judge is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina. State v. Burkhart, 350 S.C. 252, 565 S.E.2d 298 (2002); State v. Shuler, 344 S.C. 604, 545 S.E.2d 805 (2001); Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 529 S.E.2d 528 (2000); Cohens v. Atkins, 333 S.C. 345, 509 S.E.2d 286 (Ct.App.1998); see also State v. Buckner, 341 S.C. 241, 534 S.E.2d 15 (Ct.App.2000) (holding jury charge is proper if, as a whole, it is free from error and reflects current and correct law of South Carolina).

In reviewing jury charges for error, consideration should be given to the court's jury charge as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial. Burroughs & Chapin Co. v. South Carolina Dep't of Transp., 352 S.C. 535, 574 S.E.2d 751 (Ct.App.2002); see also State v. Todd, 290 S.C. 212, 349 S.E.2d 339 (1986) (when reviewing jury charge for error, Court must consider charge as a whole); see also Welch v. Epstein, 342 S.C. 279, 536 S.E.2d 408 (Ct.App.2000) (when reviewing jury charge for alleged error, appellate court must consider charge as a whole in light of evidence and issues presented at trial).

A jury charge is correct if, when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law. In re McCracken, 346 S.C. 87, 551 S.E.2d 235 (2001); State v. Johnson, 315 S.C. 485, 445 S.E.2d 637 (1994); State v. Burton, 302 S.C. 494, 397 S.E.2d 90 (1990) (charge is sufficient if, when considered as a whole, it covers law applicable to case). The substance of the law is what must be charged to the jury, not any particular verbiage. Burkhart, 350 S.C. at 261, 565 S.E.2d at 303; State v. Smith, 315 S.C. 547, 446 S.E.2d 411 (1994).

To warrant reversal, a trial judge's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant. State v. Harrison, 343 S.C. 165, 539 S.E.2d 71

(Ct.App.2000); see also Priest v. Scott, 266 S.C. 321, 223 S.E.2d 36 (1976) (in general, an alleged error in a portion of a charge must be considered in light of the whole charge, and must be prejudicial to the appellant to warrant a new trial).

In Lewis, the defendant was convicted of aiding and abetting homicide by child abuse. 403 S.C. 345, 348, 743 S.E.2d 124, 125. When an officer visited Lewis at his grandmother's home a couple of days after the incident, Lewis ran out the back door but then returned and explained that he thought he was going to be arrested. Id. at 351, 743 S.E.2d at 127. Lewis later attempted suicide and was admitted to the Laurens County Hospital. Id. The State asserted that Lewis's flight and suicide attempt were sufficient evidence to withstand a directed verdict, and this Court disagreed. Id. at 357, 743 S.E.2d at 130.

The State's case against Appellant was largely circumstantial. Law enforcement did not "find any evidence that actually showed what occurred during this incident." Tr. 123, ll. 7 – 10. Recognizing that a charge regarding flight has been disfavored since State v. Grant, 275 S.C. 404, 272 S.E.2d 169 (1980), the requested charge in this case served only to ensure that the State met its burden in offering substantial circumstantial evidence. The State failed to prove that Appellant either committed the charge of grand larceny or was guilty under an accomplice liability theory. McIver disposed of the car by burning it; no testimony linked Appellant to that undertaking. There was no testimony regarding a plan or scheme between Appellant and McIver to take the car, and, as noted by counsel for Appellant, "[there was] no evidence in the record about where he was, what he did, once that car left K&W." Tr. 530, ll. 5 – 9. As such, the evidence supported the requested instruction.

The jury charge proposed by Appellant would have ensured that a jury rendered a verdict based on the law as established in Lewis, supra. Failure to give the charge constitutes reversible error.

**CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing, Appellant respectfully requests that this Court reverse his conviction and remand for a new trial on the grand larceny charge based upon the trial court's error in failing to charge the jury as requested.

A handwritten signature in black ink, appearing to read "Taylor B. Gilliam", written over a horizontal line.

Taylor B Gilliam  
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT