ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County
Honorable Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2018-000851

RECEIVED
AUG 27 2019
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

TERRELL FREEMAN,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Drawer 1276
Conway, SC 29526
(843) 915-5460

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County
Honorable Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

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

ARGUMENT

The trial judge, who otherwise presented jury instructions that correctly conveyed the relevant and applicable South Carolina law to the jury, properly declined to present the requested jury instruction on evidence of flight because that instruction would have constituted an improper, confusing, misleading, and unconstitutional comment on the facts in direct violation of the mandates of the South Carolina Constitution.

Appellant contends the trial judge committed reversible error by declining to instruct the jury evidence of flight alone cannot constitute substantial circumstantial evidence. In support of that request, Appellant—without addressing or even acknowledging the trial judge’s express finding the requested instruction would have constituted an improper comment on the facts—maintains such a jury instruction would have “served only to ensure that the State met its burden in offering substantial circumstantial evidence” while further contending it was somehow supported by the evidence presented. Contrary to Appellant’s contention, the trial judge, who otherwise completely and accurately instructed the jury on all the applicable law, correctly declined to present a jury instruction singling out and commenting on the potential weight of flight evidence because—just as the trial judge found—such an instruction would have constituted an impermissible comment on the facts. As a result, the trial judge committed no conceivable error by declining to present an instruction to the jury that would have violated the mandates of the South Carolina Constitution. Appellant’s conviction should be affirmed.

RELEVANT FACTS

During the course of the evidentiary phase of trial, evidence and testimony was presented establishing Victim was fatally shot after a gun was pressed to her head while she was inside her car, which had a value between \$10,000 and \$16,000, with just two other individuals—Appellant and McIver—in the parking lot of a restaurant located in North Myrtle Beach. (R. pp. 71-72; p. 112; p. 116; p. 126; p. 136; pp. 203-204; pp. 206-207; p. 415; pp. 421-423; p. 428).

Additionally, evidence and testimony was presented establishing Appellant and McIver jointly removed Victim from her car immediately after she was shot before quickly absconding from the scene together with Victim's vehicle once they had callously dumped her body onto the ground outside it. (R. p. 54; pp. 56-57; p. 63; pp. 68-69; p. 73; p. 91; p. 354; p. 403). Furthermore, evidence and testimony was presented establishing Appellant and McIver used Victim's car to leave the scene of the killing together, drove back to their motel together, quickly loaded McIver's truck with their belongings together, and then promptly left the area and headed back to Charlotte in separate vehicles. (R. p. 54; pp. 215-216; p. 230; p. 295; p. 327; p. 354; p. 356; p. 395; p. 403; State's Ex. # 17). Beyond that, evidence and testimony was presented establishing Appellant and McIver continued communicating with one another by phone after leaving the area, McIver used Victim's credit cards along the way home, and McIver completely destroyed Victim's car by setting it on fire once he had made it back to Charlotte later that day. (R. p. 182; p. 185; pp. 192-193; pp. 215-216; p. 232; pp. 235-237; p. 246; pp. 253-258; pp. 269-270; p. 296; p. 309; pp. 322-323; pp. 357-358; p. 365).

At the conclusion of the evidentiary phase of trial, the trial judge discussed his intended jury instructions with the parties, and Appellant's defense counsel asked the trial judge to instruct the jury "flight alone is not substantial circumstantial evidence" while citing to State v. Lewis, 403 S.C. 345, 743 S.E.2d 124 (Ct. App. 2013), as support for his request. (R. p. 476; p. 481). In response, the trial judge noted jury instructions on flight evidence had been determined to constitute impermissible comments on the facts in South Carolina and, as a result, declined to present the requested charge. (R. p. 482). However, the trial judge noted the parties would be free "to argue about flight or escape based on their view of the evidence." (R. p. 482).

Thereafter, the parties presented their closing arguments to the jury, and the trial judge instructed the jury on the applicable law. (R. pp. 484-558). Through his jury instructions, the trial judge explained the jury's role was to determine whether the State met its burden of proving Appellant's and his co-defendant's guilt for each of the charged offenses beyond a reasonable doubt, thoroughly defined reasonable doubt for the jury, explained Appellant and his co-defendant were presumed to be innocent and were not required to prove anything during the trial, defined the elements of the charged offenses, and indicated the jury's verdict must be unanimous. (R. pp. 546-547; pp. 550-555; p. 557). Additionally, the trial judge directly advised the jurors on the differences between direct and circumstantial evidence, correctly explained "a greater degree of certainty of one over the other is not required[,]" and accurately noted the State was required to meet its burden of proof regardless of what type of evidence it used or relied upon.¹¹ (R. pp. 549-550). Furthermore, consistent with his earlier ruling, the trial judge did not present any instructions specifically addressing evidence of flight or indicating flight alone was not substantial circumstantial evidence.¹² (R. pp. 546-558).

¹¹ Specifically, regarding direct and circumstantial evidence, the trial judge instructed the jury as follows: "There are two types of evidence that are normally presented in virtually every criminal trial, and this case is no exception. It's called direct and circumstantial evidence. Direct evidence, that's the testimony of a person who asserts or claims to have actual knowledge of a fact. Circumstantial evidence, that's proof of a chain of facts indicating the existence of a fact. The law does not make a distinction between the two, and a greater degree of certainty of one over the other is not required. But, to the extent the State of South Carolina relies on any circumstantial evidence, all of the circumstances must be consistent with each other and when taken together point conclusively to the guilt of the accused beyond a reasonable doubt. If the circumstances merely portray the defendant's behavior as suspicious, that proof has failed. The state has the burden of proving these defendants guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of the crimes charged. That burden rests on the state whether the state relies on direct evidence, circumstantial evidence or a combination of the two." (R. pp. 549-550).

¹² At the end of the jury instructions, Appellant's defense counsel lodged an objection to the trial judge's failure to present the requested jury instruction on flight evidence, and the trial judge noted that objection. (R. pp. 559-560).

Subsequently, at the conclusion of trial, the jury convicted Appellant of grand larceny while acquitting him of the other charges. (R. pp. 566-567). The trial judge then sentenced Appellant to a five-year term of imprisonment for that conviction. (R. pp. 579-580).

ANALYSIS

The purpose of a trial judge's jury instructions is "to enlighten the jury and to aid it in arriving at a correct verdict." State v. Leonard, 292 S.C. 133, 137, 355 S.E.2d 270, 273 (1987). To carry out that purpose, a trial judge is required to charge the jury on the current and correct South Carolina law applicable to the case based on the evidence presented. State v. Taylor, 356 S.C. 227, 231, 589 S.E.2d 1, 2 (2003); see State v. Brandt, 393 S.C. 526, 549, 713 S.E.2d 591, 603 (2011) (explaining a trial judge is required to instruct the jury on sound principles of law that are applicable to the case based on the evidence presented). In doing so, the trial judge is only required to instruct the jury on the substance of the law and does *not* have to use any particular verbiage. State v. Burkhart, 350 S.C. 252, 261, 565 S.E.2d 298, 302 (2002). However, a trial judge in South Carolina is constitutionally prohibited from making any comments that could be construed as offering an opinion on the facts of the case. See S.C. Const. art. V, § 21 ("Judges shall not charge juries in respect to matters of fact, but shall declare the law."); see also State v. Smith, 288 S.C. 329, 331, 342 S.E.2d 600, 601 (1986) ("The trial judge must refrain from all comment which tends to indicate his opinion as to the weight or sufficiency of the evidence, the credibility of the witnesses, the guilt of the accused or as to controverted facts."). Importantly, so long as the trial judge's jury instructions are substantially correct, adequately cover the applicable law, and do not run afoul of the constitutional prohibition against comments on the facts, those instructions are considered to be appropriate and not erroneous. State v. Foust, 325 S.C. 12, 16, 479 S.E.2d 50, 52 (1996); see State v. Adkins, 353 S.C. 312, 318, 577 S.E.2d 460,

464 (Ct. App. 2003) (“A jury charge is correct if, when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law.”); see also State v. Deas, 202 S.C. 9, 14, 23 S.E.2d 820, 822 (1943) (“Of course, under our Constitution and practice the jury are the sole judges of the facts in criminal trials and it is error for the Judge to communicate his views of them to the jury.”).

In the case sub judice, the trial judge, through his jury instructions, identified the correct burden of proof for the jury, accurately explained the burden of proof rested solely on the State, thoroughly defined the concept of reasonable doubt, and correctly conveyed Appellant was presumed to be innocent and had no burden whatsoever to prove anything during his trial. Furthermore, the trial judge specifically advised the jurors on the differences between direct and circumstantial evidence and accurately explained the State was required to prove Appellant’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt regardless of the type of evidence introduced and relied upon. Viewing those jury instructions together as a whole, the trial judge’s jury instructions correctly conveyed the relevant and applicable South Carolina law to the jurors and afforded the jurors the appropriate test for resolving the issues raised by the evidence in Appellant’s case. See Sheppard, 357 S.C. at 665, 594 S.E.2d at 472-473 (“A jury charge is correct if it contains the correct definition of the law when read as a whole.”); see also Burkhart, 350 S.C. at 263, 565 S.E.2d at 304 (“Failure to give requested jury instructions in not prejudicial error where the instructions given afford the proper test for determining the issues.”). As a result, the trial judge’s jury instructions were sufficient and proper. See Rye, 375 S.C. at 123, 651 S.E.2d at 323 (“A trial court’s decision regarding jury charges will not be reversed where the charges, as a whole, properly charged the law to be applied.”); see also State v. Rabon, 275 S.C. 459, 462, 272 S.E.2d 634, 636 (1980) (“The Constitution of this State requires that the trial judge declare the

law, but no particular verbiage is necessary. It is sufficient if the precepts stated to the jury adequately cover that law which is applicable.”).

In arguing to the contrary, Appellant contends the trial judge’s instructions were somehow not sufficient because they did not contain specific verbiage informing the jury flight evidence alone was not substantial circumstantial evidence. Importantly though, even assuming such an instruction on flight evidence somehow constituted a correct statement of South Carolina law that was categorically true in all cases and under all circumstances, the trial judge would have erred had he given such a jury instruction because—just as the trial judge recognized—it would have constituted an impermissible comment on the facts that would have violated the South Carolina Constitution’s bar on judges in our state commenting to the jury on the facts of a case.¹³ See S.C. Const. art. V, § 21 (“Judges shall not charge juries in respect to matters of fact, but shall declare the law.”); see also State v. Hartley, 307 S.C. 239, 240-241, 414 S.E.2d 182, 183-184 (Ct. App. 1992) (rejecting a contention the trial judge erred by refusing to give a requested charge where that requested charge would have constituted an impermissible comment on the facts).

Significantly, in State v. Cheeks, 401 S.C. 322, 737 S.E.2d 480 (2013), our Supreme Court addressed the propriety of a jury instruction that—like the instruction requested in Appellant’s case—directly commented on the potential strength of certain evidence presented.

¹³ Tellingly, the case relied upon Appellant as support for his requested flight instruction did *not* state flight evidence alone categorically could never constitute substantial circumstantial evidence of guilt for any offense under any circumstances and, instead, simply found the guilty conduct evidence presented in that particular case was not sufficient under the specific circumstances involved to withstand a motion for a directed verdict. See State v. Lewis, 403 S.C. 345, 357, 743 S.E.2d 124, 130 (Ct. App. 2013) (“The State also asserts Lewis’s flight and suicide attempt are sufficient evidence to withstand a directed verdict. We disagree with the State’s contention *under these facts*. The State did not present any evidence of an overt act or the requisite state of mind for aiding and abetting, and thus, evidence of flight and a suicide attempt alone will not suffice to withstand a motion for a directed verdict.” (emphasis added)).

Specifically, the trial judge in Cheeks's case—over objection—instructed the jury actual knowledge of the presence of crack cocaine is strong evidence of a defendant's intent to control its disposition or use. Id. at 327, 737 S.E.2d at 484. After analyzing that particular jury instruction on appeal, the Supreme Court found it to be violative of the constitutional prohibition on comments on the fact because the use of the word "strong" necessarily constituted a comment on the weight of the evidence. Id. at 329, 737 S.E.2d at 484. Based on that finding, the Supreme Court instructed "the bench to no longer use the 'strong evidence' charge, which is derived from a statement on the sufficiency of the evidence [from an appellate decision]." Id. Furthermore, the Supreme Court noted:

Simply because certain facts may be considered by the jury as evidence of guilt in a given case where the circumstances warrant, it does not follow that future juries should be charged that these facts are probative of guilt. It is always for the jury to determine the facts, and the inferences that are to be drawn from these facts.

Id. at 328, 737 S.E.2d at 484. Ultimately though, the Supreme Court affirmed Cheeks's convictions after finding he was not prejudiced by the giving of the improper instruction based on the overwhelming evidence of guilt presented in his case. Id. at 329, 737 S.E.2d at 484.

Subsequent to the decision in Cheeks, our Supreme Court reiterated the significance of the South Carolina Constitution's prohibition against comments on the facts in State v. Stukes, 416 S.C. 493, 787 S.E.2d 480 (2016). In that case, the trial judge instructed the jury on the statutory non-corroboration language from Section 16-3-657 of the South Carolina Code of Laws simply by informing the jurors the testimony of a victim in a sexual assault case need not be corroborated, which was an unquestionably accurate statement of law. Id. at 497, 787 S.E.2d at 482; see S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-657 ("The testimony of the victim need not be corroborated in prosecutions under Sections 16-3-652 through 16-3-658."). On appeal, the Supreme Court found

that particular jury instruction to be unconstitutionally erroneous and reversed. Stukes, 416 S.C. at 496, 787 S.E.2d at 481. In reversing, the Supreme Court concluded a jury instruction on the statutory language of Section 16-3-657 was confusing and “violative of the constitutional provision prohibiting courts from commenting to the jury on the facts of a case.” Id. at 499, 787 S.E.2d at 483. Specifically, the Supreme Court explained:

[I]t is not within the province of the court to express an opinion to the jury on its view of the facts. By addressing the veracity of a victim’s testimony in its instructions, the trial court emphasizes the weight of that evidence in the eyes of the jury. The charge invites the jury to believe the victim, explaining that to confirm the authenticity of her statement, the jury need only hear her speak. Moreover, it is inescapable that this charge confused the jury. Specifying this qualification applies to one witness creates the inference the same is not true for the others.

Id. at 499-500, 787 S.E.2d at 483 (footnote omitted).

Beyond Cheeks and Stukes, our Supreme Court in State v. Grant, 275 S.C. 404, 272 S.E.2d 169 (1980), was specifically confronted with a challenge to a jury instruction on flight evidence and analyzed whether such an instruction was proper. Upon analyzing the matter in that case, the Supreme Court found a charge on flight evidence “oftentimes has the potential for creating more problems than solutions” and would place “undue emphasis” upon that particular evidence. Id. at 408, 272 S.E.2d at 172. As a result, our Supreme Court expressly held jury instructions on flight evidence “should not be charged” in South Carolina. Id.

Like the jury instructions found to be improper in Cheeks, Stukes, and Grant, the flight evidence jury instruction requested by Appellant’s defense counsel would have singled out just one portion of the evidence presented during the trial—the evidence of Appellant’s and McIver’s flight—and classified that singled-out evidence as being alone insufficient to constitute substantial circumstantial evidence. Significantly, by singling out that evidence and commenting

on its potential weight, such a jury instruction naturally could have been—and would have been—construed as expressing the trial judge’s opinion on that specific evidence to the jury and, as a result, would have constituted an impermissible and unconstitutional comment on the facts. See Grant, 275 S.C. at 108, 272 S.E.2d at 171 (“[W]e believe that the ‘law of flight’ in a judge’s charge places undue emphasis upon that part of circumstantial evidence and it should not be charged hereafter.”); cf. Stukes, 416 S.C. at 499, 787 S.E.2d at 483 (“By addressing the veracity of a victim’s testimony in its instruction, the trial court emphasizes the weight of that evidence in the eyes of the jury.”); Cheeks, 401 S.C. at 328-329, 737 S.E.2d at 484 (“[C]harging a jury that ‘actual knowledge of the presence of a drug is strong evidence of intent to control its disposition or use’ unduly emphasizes that evidence, and deprives the jury of its prerogative both to draw inferences and to weigh evidence.”); Hartley, 307 S.C. at 241, 414 S.E.2d at 184 (“[T]he trial judge was requested, in effect, to charge that particular evidence (*i.e.*, evidence of lack of motive) is entitled to receive weight or consideration. The requested charge is clearly a charge on a fact that the jury was to determine.”). Moreover, such an instruction had a high potential to confuse the jury based on the fact it would have addressed the weight and significance of flight evidence *alone*, which could have potentially misled the jurors into believing flight evidence was the only circumstantial evidence of guilt presented during the trial or into thinking they could not properly draw an inference of guilt from flight evidence despite the fact flight evidence has long been recognized as supporting such an inference. See State v. Pauling, 264 S.C. 275, 278, 214 S.E.2d 326, 327 (1975) (“It is . . . well settled that the weight and sufficiency of the evidence is for the jury. It is the province of that body to weigh the evidence and decide on its sufficiency in reaching a verdict.”); State v. Battle, 408 S.C. 109, 119, 757 S.E.2d 737, 742 (Ct. App. 2014) (“The task of determining the weight of the evidence lies within the exclusive province of the

jury?"); see also State v. Freely, 105 S.C. 243, 250, 89 S.E. 643, 645 (1916) ("The flight of one charged with crime has always been held to be some evidence tending to prove guilt. Solomon wrote as a proverb the 'wicked flee when no man pursueth;' and Shakespeare made guilty Hamlet to soliloquize that 'conscience does make cowards of us all.' "); cf. Stukes, 416 S.C. at 499, 787 S.E.2d at 483 ("Specifying this qualification applies to one witness creates the inference the same is not true for others."); State v. Cheeks, 408 S.C. 198, 200, 758 S.E.2d 715, 716 (2014) (finding a "strong evidence" jury instruction to be improper where it "unduly emphasized the evidence" and "deprived the jury of its prerogative to draw inferences and to weigh evidence"). Accordingly, the requested charge was not constitutionally permissible or proper under South Carolina law. See S.C. Const. art. V, § 21 (prohibiting trial judges from instructing the jury on matters of fact).

For all those reasons, the trial judge, who otherwise presented instructions that fully provided the jurors with all the relevant law needed for them to be able to properly decide Appellant's case, correctly declined to present a jury instruction that would have improperly singled out flight evidence alone and commented on the potential weight of that evidence since such an instruction would have constituted a confusing, problematic, impermissible, and unconstitutional comment on the facts.¹⁴ See State v. Thorne, 237 S.C. 248, 251, 116 S.E.2d

¹⁴ In light of the surveillance footage that directly captured Appellant using Victim's car to get back to his motel room along with McIver just after Victim was killed, any possible error that occurred as a result of the trial judge's decision not to present the improper jury instruction on flight evidence would have been harmless beyond a reasonable doubt and could not have had any impact on Appellant's grand larceny conviction. See State v. Logan, 405 S.C. 83, 98, 747 S.E.2d 444, 452 (2013) ("[E]rroneous jury instructions are subject to harmless error analysis."); see also State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003) (finding the erroneous admission of evidence was harmless where its impact was minimal in the context of the entire record); cf. State v. Green, 278 S.C. 239, 240, 294 S.E.2d 335, 335 (1982) ("[T]he refusal in this case to instruct the jury on the issue of good character was not reversible error, because we are not convicted that such refusal prejudiced the appellant.").

854, 855 (1960) (“The Judge must be careful to avoid expressing, or even intimating, any opinion, as to the facts, and if he does so, whether intentionally or unintentionally, a new trial must be granted. Under our Constitution the jury is the exclusive judge of the facts, and the true meaning and real object is that the jury must be left to form its own judgment, unbiased by any expressions, or even intimations, of opinion by the Judge.”); see also Sheppard, 357 S.C. at 665, 594 S.E.2d at 472-473 (recognizing a jury charge is correct if it correctly defines the relevant and applicable law when read as a whole); cf. State v. Edwards, 127 S.C. 116, ___, 120 S.E. 490, 491 (1923) (finding the trial judge correctly refused to instruct the jury the absence of a motive may be sufficient to raise a reasonable doubt because such an instruction would have constituted an impermissible comment on the facts). Appellant’s conviction should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION